
	

__________________________________________________________________________ 
763-479-0527 (Phone)                               1920 County Road 90                                   763-479-0528 (Fax) 

Independence, MN 55359 
http://independence.govoffice.com 

	

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2016 
 

6:30 PM Regular Meeting  
 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Roll Call 
 

3. Approval of Minutes: 
a. September 20, 2016 Planning Commission Meeting  

 

4. PUBLIC HEARING:  George and Linda Becker (Applicants/Owners) request that the City 
consider the following actions for the property located at 4635 Lake Sarah Road, 
Independence, MN (PID No. 03-118-24-22-0002): 

 
a. A variance to allow the subdivision of property in the AG-Agriculture zoning 

district. 
 

b. A minor subdivision to allow the subdivision of the subject parcel into two (2) 
lots.   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARING:  Lisa Dayton (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the 

following actions for the property located at 8415 Hitsman Lane (PID No. 17-118-24-31-
0004) in Independence, MN: 
 

a. A minor subdivision to permit the creation of a rural view lot.   
 

6. PUBLIC HEARING:  B. Benson Group (Applicant) and Joyce Larson (Owner) request that 
the City consider the following actions for the property located at 1160 County Road 19 N, 
Independence, MN (PID No. 25-118-24-42-0001): 

 
a. Rezoning form Ag-Agriculture to RR-Rural Residential. 
 
b. Preliminary Plat for a four (4) 4 lot subdivision. 
 
c. Final Plat for a four (4) lot subdivision. 

 
7. Open/Misc. 
 
8. Adjourn.	



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

1

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
INDEPENDENCE PLANNING COMMISSION 
TUESDAY SEPTEMBER 20, 2016 – 6:30 P.M. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the Independence Planning Commission was 
called to order by Chair Olson at 6:30 p.m. 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
PRESENT: Commissioners Olson, Gardner, Palmquist and Thompson 
STAFF: City Planner Kaltsas, City Administrative Assistant Horner 
ABSENT: Chair Phillips 
VISITORS: Jan Gardner, Jay and Becca Fogelson, Jim and Lynda Franklin, Donna Hendley, Dave 

Truax, Brad Spencer 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 

a. August 16, 2016 Planning Commission Meeting 
 
Motion by Gardner to approve the minutes of the August 16, 2016 Planning Commission Meeting, 
second by Thompson. Ayes: Gardner, Olson and Thompson. Nays: None. Absent: Phillips. Abstain: 
Palmquist. Motion approved. 
 
4. PUBLIC HEARING (Tabled at June 21 Meeting):  Jay Fogelson (Applicant/Owner) requests that 

the City consider the following action for the property located at 4618 South Lake Sarah Drive, 
Independence, MN (PID No. 02-118-24-21-0005): 
 

a. A variance to allow a reduced side yard setback on both sides of the property, which would 
permit a home and garage addition.   

 
Kaltsas said the applicant has requested tabling the request until the September 20th meeting of the 
Planning Commission. In May of this year the applicant initially requested a1’-2” setback on the east 
property line to allow for home and garage expansion.  Commissioners reviewed the request and did not 
find that it met the criteria for granting a variance.  Commissioners recommended that the applicant 
consider an alternative layout that increased the side yard setback.  Commissioners were concerned that the 
minimum setback would not allow for access to the rear (lakeside) of the property as well as maintenance 
of the structure itself.  In June, the applicant brought back a revised plan with a proposed setback of five 
(5) feet from the east property line.  Commissioners reviewed the request and again found that the 5 feet 
was not adequate to accommodate access and maintenance of the property and structure.  Commissioners 
were going to recommend denial of the requested variance.  The applicant asked to have the item tabled 
again to review the plans and increase the east setback. 
 
The applicant has once again revised their request and is now seeking consideration of an eight (8) foot 
setback along the east property line and a one (1) foot variance on the west property line.  The applicant is 
proposing to set the house addition back along the east side to allow walking access to the rear of the 
property.  In addition, the applicant has noted that they are still proposing a garage door to be located on 
the rear of the garage to provide additional access to the lakeside of the property.  Shifting the proposed 



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

2

house/garage addition to the west has now created a situation where the applicant is requesting a one (1) 
foot variance on the west side of the property. 
 
Gardner asked if the City had heard anything from the neighbors. Kaltsas said the neighbors had not 
contacted the City since the revision. The original deck expansion was fine with the neighbors. Palmquist 
asked if the 3’3” setback would have fire rating issues. Kaltsas said it would have to meet code. Kaltsas 
said the garage will be two stories but not taller than the main house. Palmquist asked if the variance was 
granted what restraints that would put on the property to the west. Kaltsas noted the setback could put 
some restraints on the property. 
 
Public Hearing Open 
 
Fogelson said the revision shows an 18’ setback instead of 5’. He said the expansion would allow a 
hallway to be put in and then add a back room. He said the homeowner to the east’s main concern was 
privacy. 
 
Motion by Gardner to close the Public Hearing, second by Thompson. 

Public Hearing Closed 
 
Motion by Thompson to approve the variance for 4618 South Lake Sarah Drive, second by 
Palmquist. Ayes: Gardner, Olson, Palmquist and Thompson. Nays: None. Absent: Phillips. Abstain: 
None. Motion approved. 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARING:  Jim and Lynda Franklin (Applicants/Owners) request that the City consider the 

following action for the property located at 6615 Franklin Hills Road, Independence, MN (PID No. 15-
118-24-12-0011):  
 

a. A Conditional Use Permit to allow an accessory dwelling unit on the subject property.   
 
Kaltsas said several years ago, the City adopted an ordinance permitting accessory dwelling units as a 
conditional use in both Rural Residential and Agriculture zoning districts.  The intent of the ordinance was 
to allow“mother-in-law” type units to be located within the principle structure or a detached accessory 
building.  The applicant is seeking a conditional use permit to allow a detached accessory dwelling unit to 
be constructed on the property.  The detached accessory structure would be a standalone structure located 
on the property.  The proposed accessory structure would be used a true “mother in law” unit allowing the 
homesteaded owners of the property a secondary living quarters for their use on the property.   
 
The subject property has an existing principle home and several small accessory buildings on the property.  
The proposed accessory dwelling unit is comprised of one bedroom, a bathroom, a kitchen, dining and 
family room area.  In order to allow an accessory dwelling unit, the applicant will need to demonstrate how 
they meet all applicable criteria for granting a conditional use permit.  The City has criteria broadly relating 
to Conditional Use Permits and then more focused criteria relating specifically to accessory dwelling units.  
 
Kaltsas said the overall property is heavily wooded which will essentially mitigate potential visual impacts 
of the proposed accessory structure.  The applicant is proposing to locate the structure in an existing 
opening in the wooded portion of the property (see below).  The proposed location would meet all 
applicable setbacks.  The proposed building would be 89 feet from the closest property line to the north.  
The required setback is 15 feet.  The subject property is part of a larger overall development which has 
been incrementally developed by the owner of this property.  The surrounding properties to the east and 



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

3

north are comprised of 3-6 acre lots.  The property to the west and south are comprised of larger parcels 
similar in nature to the subject property.  The applicant has submitted a floor plan and building elevation 
further detailing and depicting the proposed accessory structure. The proposed accessory structure is a 
single floor building.  The accessory dwelling unit will need to meet all applicable building codes and 
building regulations.  The applicant will be required to apply for and receive all applicable and requisite 
building permits.    
 
As proposed, the accessory dwelling unit appears to meet all applicable criteria established in the zoning 
ordinance.  In addition to the requirements for allowing an accessory dwelling unit, the City has additional 
criteria which need to be considered for granting a conditional use permit  
 
The criteria for granting a conditional use permit are clearly delineated in the City’s Zoning Ordinance 
(Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general welfare of 
occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated traffic. 
4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use. 
5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage 

treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to 
protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural 
topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and 
environmental features. 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
 
Consideration for the proposed conditional use permit should weigh the impact of having an accessory 
dwelling unit located on this property.  The applicant is proposing to design the new structure in a manner 
that will complement the existing home on the property.  The location of the proposed accessory dwelling 
unit and its compliance with all applicable setbacks appears to mitigate potential impacts resulting from the 
construction of the accessory dwelling unit.  The City will need to consider if the accessory dwelling unit 
meets the requirements and criteria for granting a conditional use permit.   
 
Should the CUP to allow an accessory dwelling unit be recommended for approval by the Planning 
Commission, it is suggested that the following conditions be noted by the City: 
 

 The Conditional Use Permit will be subject to the applicant successfully obtaining and 
completing a building permit for all applicable improvements required for a dwelling unit. 
 

 The applicant will need to apply for and obtain a valid holding tank permit from the City or 
provide the City with appropriate documentation and application for a primary on-site septic 
system to be constructed on the subject property.  



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

4

 
 The proposed accessory structure cannot be expanded or enlarged without the review and 

approval of the City.  Any expansion will require an amendment to the conditional use 
permit following all applicable procedures. 

 
 
Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission for the requested conditional use permit 
with the following findings and conditions: 

1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit request meets all applicable conditions and restrictions 
stated in Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. The conditional use permit will be issued subject to the following items being completed:    
 

a. The Conditional Use Permit will be subject to the applicant successfully obtaining and 
completing a building permit for all applicable improvements required for a dwelling 
unit. 
 

b. The applicant will need to apply for and obtain a valid holding tank permit from the City 
or provide the City with appropriate documentation and application for a primary on-site 
septic system to be constructed on the subject property.  

 
c. The proposed accessory structure cannot be expanded or enlarged without the review 

and approval of the City.  Any expansion will require an amendment to the conditional 
use permit following all applicable procedures. 
 

3. Prior to the City Council placing the Conditional Use Permit into effect, the applicant shall 
provide the City with the following items: 

 
A. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested 

conditional use permit. 
 
Palmquist asked why it is a Conditional Use versus a Permitted Use. Kaltsas said Conditional Use is 
unique to each situation. Kaltsas said this is a second structure for family members only. Kaltsas said 
the Conditional Use allows it to be reviewed annually and it may be revoked for non-compliance, for 
example, if it was being used as a rental house. Gardner asked questions around if there would be a 
basement and how that would change things. He thought that was a grey area in the current ordinance. 
Kaltsas confirmed with Franklin that this structure would be built on slab. 
 
Public Hearing Open 
 
No comments. 
 

Motion by Gardner to close the Public Hearing, second by Thompson. 

 
Public Hearing Closed 
 



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

5

Motion by Palmquist to approve the CUP request for 6615 Franklin Hills Road, second by Gardner. 
Ayes: Gardner, Olson, Palmquist and Thompson. Nays: None. Absent: Phillips. Abstain: None. 
Motion approved. 
6. PUBLIC HEARING:  Donna Hendley (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the 

following actions for the property located at 4150 Lake Sarah Drive South, Independence, MN (PID 
No. 02-118-24-43-0003): 

 
a. Final Plat for a five-lot subdivision of the subject property. 

 
Kaltsas said this property was recently subdivided in 2014 in order to separate two existing homes that had 
historically occupied this property (One of the homes was used as a caretaker’s house - home located near 
the stables in the northwest corner of the property and accessed off of Lake Sarah Drive South and the 
other as the principal home of the owner - located in the middle of the property with access off of County 
Road 11).  The previous subdivision was permitted under the provisions of the rural view subdivision 
ordinance.  At the time of that subdivision, the City required the applicant to submit a ghost plat of the 
remaining property in order to ensure that the surrounding property could be subdivided in the future.  The 
owner is now interested in rezoning the property to Rural Residential which would allow the subdivision of 
four new lots in addition to the existing lot.  Following consideration for rezoning, the applicant is 
requesting that the City consider the proposed preliminary plat. 
 
The proposed subdivision would create four new lots along with the existing lot.  The applicant has worked 
to develop the property in a manner that would respect the natural topography and wetlands, capture the 
best building site locations and limit construction of additional public infrastructure.  The 4 new lots would 
be similar in size and configuration to the recently subdivided 5 acre lot (4850 County Road 11) with 
access to County Road 11.  The applicant is proposing to maintain a larger, approximately 32 acre parcel, 
with the existing home and barns in order to continue to accommodate the use of the barn for horses.  
There are approximately 30 stalls in the existing barn.  Based on the City’s animal unit provisions, this 
property would need to be at least 31 acres to accommodate the existing barn.  It is possible that the use of 
the barn would not be desired in the future.  If the use of the barn were limited, the property could 
potentially yield several additional lots.   
 
Access to Lots 1, 2 and 3 would be from Lake Sarah Drive South.  All of the proposed lots along Lake 
Sarah Drive South meet the minimum frontage requirements.  Lots 4 and 5 would be accessed off of 
County Road 11 and be required to share a driveway access and access easement.  The proposed private 
access easement could serve both lots and would not trigger the need for a common driveway.   
 
The proposed subdivision was reviewed by Hennepin County.  The County recommended that the access 
to serve Lots 4 and 5 be located across from the existing church access driveway on the south side of 
County Road 11. 
 
The applicant previously reserved an additional 17 feet of right of way along County Road 11.  The 17 feet 
will allow for the future expansion of County Road 11.  
 
City sewer runs along County Road 11 and Lake Sarah Drive South.  This property was previously 
included in the metropolitan urban service area and can be connected to the City’s sewer system.  All lots 
within the proposed subdivision are proposed to be connected to the City’s sewer.  The City will charge all 
applicable sewer connection fees along with the initial assessment amount for all lots in the proposed 
development.  Lots 4 and 5 located along CSAH 11 will connect to the City’s sewer via a direct connection 



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

6

into the force main located on the north side of the road.  Lots 1, 2 and 3 will be required to connect to a 
new public sewer line installed along the east side of Lake Sarah Drive South. 
 
All existing and proposed lots have provided the requisite 10 foot perimeter drainage and utility easements 
as required by ordinance (Section 500.15, Subd.’s 1 and 2).  The proposed development does not trigger 
the City’s stormwater management requirements because there will not be an increase in new impervious 
surface.   
 
Kaltsas said the proposed subdivision of this property appears to be in keeping with the vision of the 
comprehensive plan and with the character of the surrounding properties.  The proposed lots conform to all 
applicable criteria for rural residential lots.  The proposed plan is in keeping with the previously submitted 
ghost plat that was reviewed by the City.  Given the extensive wetlands on the property and its proximity to 
adjacent geographic features as well as the surrounding properties, there does not appear to be anything 
that the City would be preventing for future development.  The proposed subdivision appears to meet all of 
the applicable standards of the City’s zoning and subdivision ordinance.   
 
The City has not received any written comments regarding the proposed subdivision to permit a rural view 
lot. 
 
Planning Commissioners discussed the request in January of this year and recommended approval of the 
proposed five lot subdivision.  The applicant then asked that the City table the five lot request and 
considered selling the property to a developer who was interested in a seven lot subdivision.  The Planning 
Commission reviewed the seven lot request and recommended approval.  Since that time the owner has 
decided not to sell the property and is now seeking preliminary plat approval of the five lot subdivision that 
was previously recommended for approval by the Planning Commission.  Commissioners only concern 
relating to the proposed subdivision was the “island” property created by subdividing the property.  
Commissioners ultimately recommended approval of the preliminary plat to the City Council.  
 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the requested Rezoning and Preliminary Plat.  Final 
Plat will need to be considered following submittal of and satisfaction of all requirements contained in the 
findings and conditions.  Approval of the rezoning and preliminary plat shall include the following findings 
and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed Rezoning and Preliminary Plat meet all applicable conditions and restrictions stated 
Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance. 

 
2. City Council approval of the Preliminary Plat is subject to the following: 

 
a. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to the 

development. 
 

b. The Applicant shall make all revisions requested in the staff report, by the Planning 
Commission and City Council. 

 
c. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions prescribed by Pioneer 

Sarah Watershed District. 
 

d. The Applicant shall enter into a development agreement with the City for this development. 
 



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

7

e. The Applicant shall provide a letter of credit as established by the development agreement for 
all improvements associated with this development. 

 
f. The Applicant shall provide the City with copies of the HOA agreement and covenants, 

including information related to the maintenance of the common driveway. 
 

g. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary City, County, PCA and other regulatory agency 
approval and permits prior to construction. 

 
3. All lots approved as a part of this subdivision shall be required to connect to the City’s sanitary 

sewer system.  The cost for the connections will be further defined in the development agreement 
for this subdivision. 
   

4. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in accordance with the terms defined in the 
Development Agreement. 

 
5. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the rezoning and 

preliminary plat. 
 

6. The Applicant shall submit the final plat and associated documents to the City within one year of 
approval of the Preliminary Plat. 

 
Thompson asked about the size of the lot with the driveway on County Road 11. Kaltsas said it was 3 acres 
and was a viable lot with frontage on County Road 11. Gardner asked if it would have its own PID. Kaltsas 
said no. 
 
Public Hearing Open 
 
No comments. 
 
Motion by Gardner to close the Public Hearing, second by Thompson. 

Public Hearing Closed 

Thompson said there was little change with the plan from the preliminary and he felt comfortable with it. 
Gardner asked about the sewer line. Kaltsas noted the City would have the necessary easements and would 
not have to go into the wetlands. 

 
Motion by Palmquist to approve the final plat for 4150 Lake Sarah Drive South, second by Gardner. 
Ayes: Gardner, Olson, Palmquist and Thompson. Nays: None. Absent: Phillips. Abstain: None. 
Motion approved. 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARING:  A proposed text amendment to Chapter 5, Sections 506 of the City of 

Independence Ordinances as follows: 
  

a. An amendment to the Floodplain Ordinance following FEMA mapping changes made in 
2016.    

 
Kaltsas said FEMA has provided updated maps and with that are requiring cities to update their ordinances 
to reference the updates maps. He noted the DNR has added language as well.  



 

City of Independence 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., September 20, 2016 

8

 
Public Hearing Open 

 
Spencer asked if there were any changes from the 100-year flood level. Kaltsas said he would send the 
links to Spencer to verify the information for Lake Sarah, Lake Independence and Lake Robina.  
 

Motion by Thompson to close the Public Hearing, second by Palmquist. 

 
Public Hearing Closed 
 
Motion by Gardner to approve the amendment to the Floodplain Ordinance following FEMA 
mapping changes made in 2016, second by Thompson. Ayes: Gardner, Olson, Palmquist and 
Thompson. Nays: None. Absent: Phillips. Abstain: None. Motion approved. 

 
7. Open/Misc. 
 
8. Adjourn. 
 
Motion by Palmquist, second by Thompson to adjourn the meeting at 8:30 p.m. Gardner, Olson, 
Palmquist and Thompson. Nays: None. Absent: Phillips. Abstain: None. Motion approved. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
_____________________ 
Trish Bemmels 
Recording Secretary 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision–	Planning	Commission	 10.18.2016	 	
	 Page	1	

 

City of Independence 

Request for a Variance and Minor Subdivision for the  
Property Located at 4635 Lake Sarah Road 

 

To: Planning Commission 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 
Meeting Date: October 18, 2016 

Applicant/Owner: George and Linda Becker  

Location: 4635 Lake Sarah Road 
 

Request: 
George and Linda Becker (Applicants/Owners) request that the City consider the following 
actions for the property located at 4635 Lake Sarah Road, Independence, MN (PID No. 03-118-
24-22-0002): 
 

a. A variance to allow the subdivision of property in the AG-Agriculture zoning 
district. 

 
b. A minor subdivision to allow the subdivision of the subject parcel into two (2) 

lots.   
 
 

Property/Site Information: 
The subject property is located north of CSAH 11 and on the west and east sides of Lake Sarah 
Road.  There is an existing home and outbuildings located on the west side of the property.  The 
property has the following site characteristics:    
 

Property Information: 4635 Lake Sarah Drive 
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 
 Acreage: (BEFORE) 34.48 acres 
 Acreage: (AFTER) 18.12 acres – West Parcel (TRACT B) 
           16.36 acres – East Parcel (TRACT C) 
  
 
 
 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision–	Planning	Commission	 10.18.2016	 	
	 Page	2	

 

4635 Lake Sarah Road  

   
 

 
Discussion: 
The applicant brought this concept to the City in August seeking preliminary feedback relating to 
whether or not a variance to allow the subdivision of the property based on the physical 
boundary of Lake Sarah Road would be considered.   Planning Commissioners provided 
feedback to the applicant that the requested variance and subdivision appeared to meet the 
requirements for granting a variance and allowing a subdivision.   
 
The original farmstead is somewhat unique in that the property is bisected by Lake Sarah Road.  
A portion (approximately 16 acres) of the property is located on the east side of Lake Sarah Road 
(see diagram below) with the remainder of the property (approximately 16 acres) located on the 
west side of Lake Sarah Road.  The City does not allow the subdivision of property zoned 
Agriculture with the exception of lot line rearrangements and rural view lot splits.  The City 
would have to consider granting a variance from the zoning ordinance to allow the subdivision of 
this property.  The overall property does not meet the minimum 40 acre requirement to realize a 

PROPOSED SITE 
TO BE SPLIT



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision–	Planning	Commission	 10.18.2016	 	
	 Page	3	

 

rural view lot subdivision.  The parcel is located just outside (west) of the area guided for rural 
residential development.     
 
Staff reviewed other parcels in the City to try to determine if there were any that would have a 
similar situation.  The only other parcel discovered with a similar condition (where the property 
is bisected by a right of way) is the parcel directly north of the subject parcel.  This parcel is 
owned by Three Rivers Park District.  
 
Should the parcel be subdivided, the newly created and existing remaining parcel would not be 
completely out of character with the surrounding parcels.  The parcel to the east side of Lake 
Sarah Road backs up to the City’s park on the east side and to the Three Rivers Park District 
parcel on the north side.  The parcel to the south is approximately 10 acres in size and has an 
existing home.  On the west side of Lake Sarah Road the properties range in size from more than 
40 acres to less than 5 acres.  
 

 
 
Public Comments: 
At the time this report was prepared, the City had received preliminary comments from Three 
Rivers Park District regarding the proposed subdivision.  The Park District was supportive of the 
subdivision and is interested in possibly seeking a similar action for their property to the north.  
The Park District also noted that they have a regional trail “search” corridor along County Road 
11 and Lake Sarah Road which would extend north towards Lake Sarah and then into Lake 
Rebecca Park.  The City of Independence did not include the search corridor in the 
Comprehensive Plan because the City did not have the ability to fully study and vet the possible 
corridor (see map below and larger map attached).  The Park District asked if the City would 

PARCEL ON WEST SIDE OF LAKE SARAH DR.

APPROXIMATELY 16.0 ACRES 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision–	Planning	Commission	 10.18.2016	 	
	 Page	4	

 

retain a future trail easement as a part of the required subdivision.  Historically, the City has 
retained additional County/City right of way where known improvements were proposed.  In this 
case, it should be noted that the City did not support the trail search corridor in the 2030 
Comprehensive Plan.  There has also not been an approved alignment for a trail along Lake 
Sarah Road.  Staff is asking direction from the Planning Commission regarding this issue.   
 

 
Summary: 
The City has standards for granting a variance which need to be considered prior to making a 
recommendation relating to the application.  The standards established by the City require the 
applicant to demonstrate that the requested variance does not create a situation that is not in 
keeping with the character of the surrounding area.  In addition, the applicant must demonstrate 
that the requested variance is unique to the subject property.  The standards for granting a 
variance are as follows: 
 
520.21. Standards for granting variances. Subdivision 1. The City Council may grant a variance 
from the terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, in cases 
where: 1) the variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code; 2) 
the variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision–	Planning	Commission	 10.18.2016	 	
	 Page	5	

 

there are practical difficulties in complying with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 

           Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties 
in  

complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, “practical difficulties” means:  
 
(a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not 

permitted by the zoning code;  
 

(b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not 
created by the landowner;  

 
(c) the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  

 
Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties 
include, but are not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. 
(Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  

 
Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under the 
zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 2011-
08)  

 
520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend and the City 
Council may impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must 
bear a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  

 
 

Consideration of the standards for granting a variance: 
a. The applicants are proposing to use the property in a manner consistent with the AG-

Agriculture Zoning District.   
 

b. The properties created by the subdivision are similar in nature and character to the 
surrounding properties.   

 
c. The character of the surrounding area is mixed residential/agricultural and guided for 

long term agriculture.  The proposed subdivision and the properties that would be 
created appear to be in keeping with the City’s comprehensive plan. 

 
d. The requested variance to allow the subdivision of the property is unique to this 

property.  There may be several other properties in the City that have a similar 
condition.  

 
The Planning Commission will need to determine if the requested variance to allow the 
subdivision of the property meets the requirements for granting a variance.  The proposed 
subdivision, if approved, would create two properties that meet all other applicable criteria of the 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision–	Planning	Commission	 10.18.2016	 	
	 Page	6	

 

City’s zoning ordinance.   
 
The existing farm house on Tract B has an existing on-site septic system that will remain in use 
with the existing home.  Upon the sale of the parcel, the City will require an inspection of the 
system.  Tract C will need to accommodate the requisite primary and secondary on-site septic 
system locations.  The applicant will need to provide the City with information verifying that the 
site can accommodate a primary and secondary site.  The proposed subdivision delineates the 
requisite drainage and utility easements along all property lines.   

 
The newly created Tract C will be required to pay the City’s Park Dedication fee.  For this 
property, the park dedication fee amount is $11,750.00.  This fee will need to be paid prior to 
recording the subdivision.    

 
Park dedication fee $3,500 per lot up to 4.99 acres, plus $750 per acre for each acre over 5. 
 
 16 acres - $3,500 for first 5 acres, plus $8,250 for the additional 11 acres = $11,750 

 
The proposed subdivision appears to meet all of the applicable standards of the City’s zoning and 
subdivision ordinance.  The lots being created will fit into the surrounding area and appear to have 
minimal impacts on the surrounding properties.  The adjacent properties are similar in size to the 
proposed lots after the subdivision. 
 
 

 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission for the requested variance and 
minor subdivision with the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed variance and minor subdivision request meet all applicable conditions 
and restrictions stated in Chapter V, Section 520.19, Procedures on variances, and 
Chapter V, Section 500, Subdivisions, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. The Applicant shall provide to the City verification that Tract C can accommodate a 

primary and secondary septic site.   
 

3. The Applicant shall execute and record the requisite drainage and utility easement 
with the county within six (6) months of approval.  

 
4. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in the amount of $11,750 prior to the 

applicant receiving final approval to record the subdivision by the City. 
 

5. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the 
requested variance and subdivision. 
 



4635	Lake	Sarah	Road	Variance	and	Minor	Subdivision–	Planning	Commission	 10.18.2016	 	
	 Page	7	

 

6. The Applicant shall record the subdivision and City Council Resolution with the 
county within six (6) months of approval.  

 
 

Attachments:  

 Application 

 Survey  

 Comprehensive Plan Figure 13 (Parks and Trails) 















8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Minor Subdivision to Permit a Rural View Lot for the  
Property Located at 8415 Hitsman Lane 

 

To: Planning Commission  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2016 

Applicant: Lisa Dayton 

Owner: Lisa Dayton 

Location: 8415 Hitsman Lane 

 
Request: 
Lisa Dayton (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following actions for the 
property located at 8415 Hitsman Lane (PID No. 17-118-24-31-0004) in Independence, MN: 
 

a. A minor subdivision to permit the creation of a rural view lot.   
 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located south of US HWY 12 and south of Hitsman Lane.  The property is 
accessed via a 33 foot wide private driveway which extends south from Hitsman Lane.  The 
property has an existing home and several outbuildings.  The property is comprised of significant 
wetlands and upland acreage.  The property has the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information: 8415 Hitsman Lane  
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 

Acreage (BEFORE): 58.92 acres  
Acreage (AFTER): North Parcel – 10.00 acres 
         South Parcel – 48.92 acres 

  

 

 

 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 2 

 

Site Aerial – 8415 Hitsman Lane 

 
 
Discussion: 
The applicant is proposing to subdivide the property in order to create a rural view lot.  The 
applicant is proposing to create one (1) rural view lot in accordance with the provisions set forth 
in the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  The subject property has a total acreage of 58.92 acres.  The 
provisions in the Agriculture Zoning District allow one (1) rural view lot for every 40 acres of 
land under the same ownership.  Under the current zoning standards, the subject property has the 
ability to realize one (1) rural view lot for a total of two (2) lots on this property.   
 
Rural view lots must have the following characteristics: 
  

Lot size required - between 2.5 and 10 acres 
Lot size proposed – North Parcel – 10.00 acres 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 3 

 

 
Minimum lot frontage required – 300 LF (for property between 5-10 acres) 
Minimum lot frontage proposed – North Parcel  – 300 LF    
 
Ratio of lot frontage to lot depth required - no more than 1:4 
Ratio of lot frontage to lot depth proposed – Parcel A - ~1:5 (300:1500) 
 

In addition to the minimum size necessary to subdivide, the ordinance requires a minimum of 2.5 
acres of buildable upland, 300 LF of frontage on a right of way and no greater than a 1:4 ratio of 
lot frontage to lot depth for each rural view lot.  Based on the proposed subdivision, the rural 
view lot would have approximately 5 acres of useable upland and 300 LF of frontage on the 33 
foot wide easement.   
 
The existing property is accessed via a 33 foot wide parcel that connects to Hitsman Lane.  It 
appears that this parcel was historically established as a cart way.   As proposed both lots do not 
meet the minimum public right of way frontage requirements of the City’s ordinance.   The City 
can grant a waiver to the frontage requirements if the criteria established in the City’s ordinance 
are met.  The configuration proposes to utilize the common driveway provision of the City’s 
zoning ordinance.  The City allows common driveways to be utilized for up to three lots if all 
applicable criteria established in the ordinance are satisfied.  The criteria established for allowing 
a common driveway are as follows: 
  

Subd. 20. "Driveway, common." An easement encumbered by a common driveway agreement 
that provides for access, construction, maintenance and financing of private vehicular and pedestrian 
access to not more than three lots. A common driveway shall be considered if evidence of the following 
standards is met: (Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(a)  Extension of a public street is not physically feasible as determined by the city. If the 
city determines that there is need for such extension, this provision shall not apply, and 
the right-of-way for a public street shall be provided by dedication in the plat; or 
(Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(b)  The city determines that a public road extension would adversely impact natural 
amenities, including wetlands or stands of mature trees containing deciduous trees 
greater than 12 inches in diameter or coniferous trees greater than 25 feet in height; or 
(Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(c)  There is no feasible present or future means of extending right-of-way from other 
directions; and (Added, Ord. 2010-06) 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 4 

 

 
(d)  Covenants which assign driveway installation and future maintenance responsibility are 

submitted and recorded with the titles of the parcels which are benefitted. The city will 
not provide maintenance or snow plowing for common or shared access driveways; and 
(Added, Ord. 2010-06) 
 

(e)  Common driveways shall be constructed in accordance with the provisions established 
in the City of Independence Manual of Standards. (Added, Ord. 2010-06) 

 
The extension Hitsman Lane to the south is unlikely due to current zoning and development 
standards of the City.  In addition, there is a large wetland impeding the potential extension of 
the road to the south.  The City has requested that the applicant provide an additional 33 foot 
wide easement along the portion of property being developed.  This will provide the City with 
the full 66 foot right of way width in case of future development.  The City will need to 
determine if the criteria for allowing a common driveway are satisfied on this parcel.    The 
applicant would need to establish covenants which assign maintenance responsibility for the 
parcels granted access off of the common driveway.  The City would need to review the 
proposed driveway construction details to ensure that it will be constructed to a standard 
adequate to accommodate public safety equipment. 
 
The proposed lot depth to lot frontage ratio for the rural view lot would be ~1:5.  This lot width 
to lot depth ration exceeds the maximum range but creates a “clean” lot line.  Moving the line to 
adjust for the lot depth would create an irregular parcel behind the proposed rural view lot.  
Moving the line to the south to provide more lot width would create a lot that is greater than 10 
acres.  The City will need to provide direction relating to the proposed lot depth to lot width 
ratio.   
 
The proposed subdivision would produce a 10 acre rural view lot.  The proposed property would 
be “in line” with the property to the west and north.  The proposed North Parcel would 
accommodate a new building pad given its overall size, topography and proposed dimensions.  
Any development on the property would need to meet all applicable setbacks including those 
from wetlands.   The City received an on-site septic report verifying that the proposed rural view 
lot can accommodate a primary and secondary on-site septic system.  The applicant will need to 
include the requisite drainage and utility easements as required by ordinance (Section 500.15, 
Subd.’s 1 and 2) for both the existing and proposed parcel. 
 
The remaining 48.92 acres would continue to be a conforming lot of record.  The existing home 
and detached accessory structure meet all applicable setbacks in the after condition.  The 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 5 

 

remaining property will have no rural view lot subdivision eligibilities following this 
subdivision. 
 
The newly created North Parcel will be required to pay the City’s requisite Park Dedication fee.  
For this property the requirement is $7,250.  This fee will need to be paid prior to recording the 
subdivision.    

 
Park dedication fee of $3,500 per lot up to 4.99 acres, 

plus $750 per acre for each acre over 5acres 
  
The applicant has submitted information to the City verifying the ability of the newly created lot 
to accommodate a primary and secondary septic system.  The existing lot has an existing septic 
system.  The home is currently for sale and upon its sale will be required to have the system 
inspected.  The City believes that this system will not be found to be in compliance with septic 
system standards and will need to be replaced.  The proposed lot appears to meet most applicable 
criteria relating to the subdivision and zoning standards. 
 
 
Neighbor Comments: 
The City had comments from a neighboring property owner.  The neighboring property owner 
stopped into City Hall to review the plans.  The neighboring owner asked questions pertaining to 
the subdivision and wanted to understand the proposed subdivision in relation to their respective 
property.  The neighboring owner generally supported the proposed subdivision.   
 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission regarding the request for a rural 
view lot subdivision.  Should the Planning Commission make a positive recommendation to the City 
Council, the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed rural view lot subdivision meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated 
Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. City Council approval of the rural view lot subdivision is subject to the following: 

 
a) The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in the amount of $7,250, for the newly 

created North Parcel, prior to the applicant receiving final approval to record the 
subdivision by the City. 
 

b) The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested 
minor subdivision. 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 6 

 

 
c) The Applicant shall record the subdivision and City Council Resolution with the county 

within six (6) months of approval.  
 
d) The Applicant shall execute and record the requisite drainage and utility and right of way 

easements with the county within six (6) months of approval.  
 

e) The remaining South Parcel will have no remaining rural view lot eligibilities. 
 

 
 
 

Attachments: 
1. Application 
2. Property Pictures 
3. Proposed Subdivision Exhibit 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



8415 Hitsman Lane – Minor Subdivision Page 7 

 

View of 8415 Hitsman Lane (Looking North) 

 

 
View of 8415 Hitsman Lane (Looking South) 

 

 











Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Approval Request for the 

Settlers Prairie Subdivision 

 

To: Planning Commission  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2016 

Applicant: B. Benson Group 

Owner: Joyce Larson - Trustee 

Location: 1160 County Road 19 N. 

 
Request: 
B. Benson Group (Applicant) and Joyce Larson (Owner) request that the City consider the following actions 
for the property located at 1160 County Road 19 N, Independence, MN (PID No. 25-118-24-42-0001): 
 

a. Rezoning form Ag-Agriculture to RR-Rural Residential. 
 
b. Preliminary Plat for a four (4) 4 lot subdivision. 
 
c. Final Plat for a four (4) lot subdivision. 

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the east side of County Road 19 N. and just south of Willow Street.  There is an 
existing home and several accessory structures located on the property.  The house is accessed via a 
gravel driveway off of County Road 19 N.  The property is a combination of rolling hills, tillable acreage and 
wetlands.  The property has the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information: 1160 County Road 19 N.  
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Rural Residential 

Acreage: 19.83 acres  
  

 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 2 

 

Site Aerial – 1160 County Road 19 N. 

 
 
Discussion: 
The Planning Commission reviewed the same request for this subdivision in September of 2015.  The 
Commission held a public hearing and ultimately recommended approval of the proposed subdivision.  
Following the Planning Commission review, the applicant ran into issues with the watershed district review 
of the property.  The final wetland delineation identified an additional wetland on the property and caused 
the road to need to shift to the south.  Following discussions with the watershed district last fall and earlier 
this year, the applicant decided to withdraw their application.  The applicant has now worked through the 
watershed issues and has made a new application seeking Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat approval 
for a four (4) lot subdivision to be known as Settlers Prairie Subdivision.  The proposed subdivision would 
split the existing 20 acre parcel into four lots.  There is an existing home located on the west edge of the 
property just off of County Road 19 N.  The existing home would remain in the after condition and be 
located on one of the four lots.  
 
The property is currently zoned Ag – Agriculture and is guided by the City’s Comprehensive Plan as a RR-
Rural Residential property (See Map – Green = Agriculture, Yellow = Rural Residential). 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 3 

 

 
 
 
Rezoning 
 
Rezoning this property is consistent with the City’s 2030 Comprehensive Plan.  Rezoning of this property is 
also consistent with the zoning of the property to the south and west.  There are three subdivisions that 
surround this property which are similar in nature to that which is proposed.   
 
Site Plan 
 
The City allows the subdivision of property in the rural residential zoning district if it can be shown to meet 
all applicable criteria of the ordinance.  The City’s applicable standards are further defined as follows: 

 
Subd. 3. Density. Lots of record in the rural residential district may be divided or 

subdivided into the following maximum number of lots, said maximum number to include the lot for 
any existing dwelling unit or other principal use: (Amended, Ord. 2010-01)  
 
 Area of Lot      Maximum Number  
 of Record      of Lots Permitted 
 7.5 acres or less     One  
 7.6 through 12.5 acres     Two  
 12.6 through 17.5 acres    Three  
 17.6 through 22.5 acres    Four  
 22.6 through 27.5 acres    Five  
 27.6 through 32.5 acres    Six  
 32.6 through 37.5 acres    Seven  
 37.6 through 42.5 acres    Eight  
 42.6 through 47.5 acres    Nine, plus one addn. lot for every five  

addn. acres of land. 
 

Subject Site 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 4 

 

In addition to the maximum lot density, the City has the following standards pertaining to Rural Residential 
lots. 
 

530.03. Physical Standards.   
 
Subd. 3.   Physical  standards.   All  lots and construction  thereon must meet  the  following physical 
standards: 
 
(a) Minimum lot area    a 2.50 acres buildable land 
 
(b) Maximum lot area    10 acres  

 
  (c)  Minimum lot frontage on an improved public road or street: 
 
      Lot area       Minimum frontage 

2.50 – 3.49 acres        b 200 feet  
3.50 – 4.99 acres        b 250 feet  
5.00 – 10.00 acres        b 300 feet  
 

(e)  Lot depth.  The ratio of lot frontage to lot depth must be no more than 1:4. 
 
a  A  lot  must  be  a  minimum  of  2.50  acres  buildable  land  with  a  demonstrated  capability  to 
accommodate  two  on‐site waste  disposal  systems.    Buildable  land must  be  contiguous  and  not 
separated by streams, wetlands, slopes in excess of 10% or other physical impediments. 
 
b A waiver to permit lots with reduced frontage on a public right‐of‐way, neck lots or lots with 
no frontage on a public right‐of‐way but with frontage on a common driveway may be 
considered and granted or not granted. If granted, evidence must be provided that all 
standards established and defined in Section 510.05, Subdivision 20 of this zoning code are 
met: (Amended, Ord. 2010‐06) 

 
A more detailed breakdown of the proposed individual lots is as follows: 
  
Block 1  Area  Upland Acreage  Frontage Lot Frontage to Lot Depth 
Lot 1   3.56 acres  2.51 acres  575/456 LF  1:1 
Lot 2  5.43 acres 2.91 acres  473 LF   1:1 
Lot 3   3.48 acres 3.48 acres  122 LF   1:1 
Lot 4   5.08 acres 3.26 acres  990 LF   2:1 
 
The applicant is proposing to provide access into the property by developing a new public cul-de-sac off of 
County Road 19 into the middle of the subject property.  The road is proposed to meet all applicable City 
standards for road and right of way width.  The new road would follow the north property line into the site.  
The driveway which provides access to the existing home would be relocated such that it connects to the 
new cul-de-sac and no longer connects to County Road 19 N.  There are several existing accessory 
buildings that would be removed as a result of the proposed new road and associated right of way.  The 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 5 

 

configuration of the proposed lots and potential building sites appears to take into account the location of 
the existing wetlands, primary and secondary septic locations and existing topography.  The applicant 
indicates the potential locations of a proposed building pad for each lot.  The proposed building pad is 
conceptual only, but provides the City with evidence that the lots can accommodate a new home site.  The 
applicant has submitted information to the City verifying the ability of each lot to accommodate a primary 
and secondary septic system. The applicant may need to revise the proposed secondary or alternative 
location to ensure that it meets the applicable setbacks from a wetland.  The size of the lots proposed will 
allow all applicable building setbacks to be met.  The proposed lots appear to meet all applicable criteria 
relating to the subdivision and zoning standards. 
 
There are several significant wetlands located on this property which make the subdivision more difficult.  
The applicant and the City have reviewed the location and boundaries of the wetlands on this property.  A 
wetland delineation has been completed and approved by the state, watershed and City.  Based on the 
current wetland boundaries, the applicant meets the minimum 2.5 acres of contiguous upland for all four 
lots.  The applicant will be required to maintain the requisite wetland buffer around the wetlands.   
 
All of the proposed lots would have the requisite amount of frontage on a public right of way.  The minimum 
frontage required for lots is as follows: 

 

 
 

Lots that are located on the terminus of a cul-de-sac are required to have a minimum of 50 LF of frontage.   
 
The proposed lot configuration is consistent with the existing subdivisions to the east and south.  Their 
configuration somewhat dictates the configuration of this parcel.  The extension of a public street to the 
south and east is unlikely due to the existing development and wetlands impeding the potential extension.  
The property to the north has an existing single-family home and has not been further subdivided.  It may 
be possible to connect a future road into the proposed road to serve the property to the north.  There is a 
large wetland located on the parcel to the north that could limit the full development of that parcel.   
 
Transportation 
The City sent the proposed subdivision to Hennepin County for their review of the proposed road access 
onto County Road 19 N.  Hennepin County found the proposed road access location to be acceptable; 
however, required that the existing driveway servicing the home be relocated to connect to the new road.      
 
 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 6 

 

Storm Water 
The applicant is proposing to construct a storm water conveyance system to accommodate the runoff 
resulting from the construction of the pubic street.  The conveyance system includes a two bay filtration 
basin system to be located within a drainage and utility easement across Lot 2.  In addition, the applicant is 
proposing to install a small filtration basin on Lot 3 to aid in the runoff from the proposed lot.  This was one 
of the concerns raised at the public hearing last year.  The City has reviewed the conveyances system and 
noted several conditions that should be included with any approval (see attached memorandum from 
Hakanson Anderson, dated October 10, 2016). 
 
Approval from Minnehaha Creek Watershed District will be required.   Any conditions or findings made by 
the watershed will be required to be incorporated into the plans and become a condition of the final plat. 
 
Engineering 
The City has completed a review of the proposed grading plan (see attached memorandum from MSA 
Professionals, dated October 13, 2016).  The applicant shall provide revised plans based on the comments 
provided by the City’s engineer.  There did not appear to be any comments that would prohibit the 
development of the property or cause for the design to be substantially changed.  The individual lots will be 
required to apply for and be granted a grading permit at the time of building permit application.  At that time 
the City will review the individual lot grading 
 
Park Dedication 
The proposed subdivision is subject to the City’s park dedication requirements.  The park dedication is 
broken down as follows:  
 

Park dedication fee $3,500 per lot up to 4.99 acres, plus $750 per acre for each acre over 5. 
 

Lot 1 includes the existing home and accessory structures and will not be subject to additional park 
dedication fees.  The total amount of the park dedication is $10,500 for the three (3) new lots. 
 
 
Neighbor Comments: 
The City has received several questions and comments from adjacent property owners.  Adjacent property 
owners had questions relating to the stormwater runoff from the proposed subdivision.  Neighboring 
property owners wanted to ensure that the stormwater runoff would not cause an increase or change to the 
water on their respective properties.    
 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission for the requested rezoning, preliminary plat 
and final plat.  Should the Planning Commission make a positive recommendation, the applicant would be 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 7 

 

required to enter into a development agreement and satisfactorily complete all requisite requirements of the City 
prior to final plat consideration by the City Council.  The Planning Commission can approve both preliminary and 
final plat or ask for final plat to be considered separately at a future date.  Should the Planning Commission 
make a positive recommendation to the City Council, the following findings and conditions should be considered: 
 

1. The proposed Rezoning and Preliminary Plat meet all applicable conditions and restrictions stated 
Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. Approval of the Preliminary and Final Plat is subject to the following: 

 
a. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to the 

development. 
 

b. The Applicant shall make all revisions requested in the staff report, by the Planning Commission and 
City Council. 

 
c. The applicant shall satisfactorily respond to all comments outlined in the attached memorandum 

from Hakanson Anderson, dated October 10, 2016. 
 

d. The applicant shall satisfactorily respond to all comments outlined in the attached memorandum 
from MSA Professionals, dated October 13, 2016. 

 
e. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions prescribed by Minnehaha 

Creek Watershed District. 
 

f. The Applicant shall enter into a development agreement with the City for this development. 
 

g. The Applicant shall provide a letter of credit as established by the development agreement for all 
improvements associated with this development, if required. 

 
h. The Applicant shall provide the City with copies of the HOA agreement and covenants, including 

information related to the maintenance of the common stormwater pond. 
 

i. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary City, County, PCA and other regulatory agency approval 
and permits prior to construction. 

 
3. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in accordance with the terms defined in the 

Development Agreement. 
 

4. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the rezoning, preliminary and 
final plats. 

 
5. The Applicant shall submit the final plat and associated documents to the City within six (6) months of 

approval of the Preliminary Plat. 



Settlers Prairie Subdivision – Rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat Page 8 

 

Attachments: 

1. Property Pictures 
2. Grading Plans 
3. Street Construction Plans 
4. Preliminary Plat 
5. Final Plat 
6. Memo From Hakanson Anderson – Stormwater 
7. Memo From MSA Professionals - Engineering 

 

 

 
 

View of 1160 County Road 19 N. (Looking North) 

 



















  

 

Main Office: 
3601 Thurston Avenue, Anoka, MN 55303 

Phone:  763/427-5860   Fax:  763/427-0520 
www.haa-inc.com 

Settlers Prairie - 
memo 10-11-16.doc  

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:      Mark Kaltsas, City of Independence  
       
FROM:    Shane Nelson, Hakanson Anderson 
  Adam Thiele, Hakanson Anderson  
 
DATE:     October 10, 2016   
 
RE:       Settlers Prairie (Formerly Deer Ridge Farms Second Addition) 

            Final Plat   
 
We have received and reviewed the Final Plat, the Engineering Plans, and Storm Water Management 
Plan all dated 9-16-16 and prepared by Otto Associates, Engineers & Land Surveyors, Inc. for the 
above referenced subdivision.  We would offer the following comments: 
 

1. This project is located within the boundary of the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District 
(MCWD).  The applicant shall submit plans to them for review and approval. 
 

2. The applicant shall provide project soil borings for review. 
 

3. It appears that grading will occur within 50’ of existing surface waters. In these cases, 
redundant erosion/sediment control BMPs must be installed and maintained. (i.e. redundant 
silt fence) 
 

4. Per the Public Works Design Manual, minimum storm sewer pipe size shall be 15”. 
 

5. Pretreatment is required for filtration basin BMPs.   
 

6. Per the MPCA, 60% of dissolved phosphorus is removed from runoff treated by iron-
enhanced filtration practices.  The total phosphorus removal efficiency listed in the provided 
stormwater calculations of 90% does not seem feasible, given the typical breakdown of 55% 
particulate phosphorus to 45% dissolved phosphorus.  
 

7. Please provide calculations used to determine depth of iron-enhanced filter media depth (6”). 
 

8. The use of North American Green SC250 as earthen weir stabilization is being reviewed. 
 

9. The 100-year high water elevation has not been shown for the wetland located in the NE 
corner of project.  This elevation shall be shown on the plans. Both the existing and proposed 
elevations shall be shown. 
 

10. An NPDES Construction Permit will also be required from the MPCA. 



 

   

 
We would recommend approval pending applicant’s response to review comments.   



Offices in Illinois, Iowa, Minnesota, and Wisconsin 

60 Plato Blvd. East, Suite 140, St. Paul, MN  55107‐1835 
(612) 548‐3132     (866) 452‐9454 

FAX:  (763) 786‐4574     WEB ADDRESS:  www.msa‐ps.com 

 
Page 1 of 1  P:\14200s\14270s\14278\14278000\2016 Settlers Prairie\2016‐10‐13 Settlers 

Prairie plan review.docx 

More ideas. Better solutions.® 

  MEMO 
  
 

  To:  Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

  From:  Steve Winter, City Engineer 

  Subject:  Settlers Prairie Plan Review 

  Date:  October 13, 2016 

     
 

We received and  reviewed the Final Plat and plan set of 6 sheets for Settlers Prairie dated 9‐16‐
16 and prepared by Otto Associates, Engineers & Land Surveyors,  Inc.   We have the following 
comments: 

1. A radius of 25 feet shall be paved at the entracnce on Settlers Court.   The radus point 
need to be shown on the plan and properly marked in the field when needed.  

2. The radius and radius points of the cul de sac also need to be shown on the plans and 
profile sheet.  The cross slope of 3% on the cul de sac must be also shown on the plan and 
profile sheet.  

3. Spiral CMP culverts are not acceptable within the Right of Way, outlets or any drainage 
and utility easements.  The minimum culvert diameter allowed is 15 inches. 

4. The  vertical  aligments    must  be  shown  on  the  plan.  The  grades  shall  meet  the 
requirements set in the City of Indepentdence Public Works Design Manual.  

5. What maintenance is required for the filtration basins? Show or define access routes for 
maintenance purposes to all manholes and cleanouts outside the public right‐of‐way and 
inlets or outlets at ponding areas (8% maximum grade, 2% cross slope, and 10’ wide).  The 
access routes shall be located in the drainage and utility easments.  

6. The detail sheet should show the proposed wetland buffer sign.  


	101816 Planning Commission Agenda
	092016 Planning Minutes Draft (Autosaved)
	4675 Lake Sarah Road Variance and Minor Subdivision_Planning Commission_10.18.2016
	Becker-Variance & Subdivision
	8102-becker-09302016142228
	8415 Hitsman Lane Minor Subdivision_PC 10.18.2016
	Dayton Subdivision Permit
	8415 Hitsman Lane Survey
	Settlers Prairie Subdivision - Preliminary and Final Plat PC 10.18.2016
	15-0501 CONST PLANS
	15-0501 01 SHEET COVER SHEET 9-16-16
	15-0501 02 SHEET GRADING PLAN  9-16-16
	15-0501 03 SHEET SETTLERS COURT P&P  9-16-16
	15-0501 04 SHEET SWPPP  9-16-16
	15-0501 05 SHEET SWPPP NARRATIVE  9-16-16
	15-0501 06 SHEET DETAILS  9-16-16

	15-0501 PP 9-16-16
	15-0501 FP DRAFT 9-16-16
	Settlers Prairie - Hakanson memo 10-11-16
	2016-10-13 Settlers Prairie plan review



